
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA                           CITY COUNCIL MEETING & 
 CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS                            PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA 

 

  

November 04, 2014 9:00 am 
 

1. Call to Order by Mayor Jan Moore 
 

2. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance by Councilman Phil Boyum 
 

3. Public Comments (Agenda Item): 
A) Bill Thomas 

 
4. Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 10-21-2014 Council Work Session Minutes 
b) 10-21-2014 Council Meeting Minutes 
c) 10-21-2014 Executive Session Minutes 

 B) Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2014-34: A Resolution authorizing 
                 the Notice of Award granted on October 21st, 2014 for the 2013 CDBG Grant. 
 

5. Consideration of a Motion to award a contract to R.A.W Construction for the natural gas 
expansion project at the I-16 Industrial Park in the amount of $1,108,950.00. 
 

6. Consideration of a Motion to approve Resolution 2014-33: A Resolution to adopt the 
first amendment to the fiscal year 2015 budget for each fund of the City of Statesboro, 
Georgia, appropriating the amounts shown in each budget as expenditures/expenses, 
adopting the several items of revenue anticipations, and prohibiting expenditures or 
expenses from exceeding the actual funding appropriated. 

 
7. Administrative Hearings for alleged alcohol violations as pursuant to Chapter 6 of the 

City of Statesboro Alcohol Ordinance: 
 
Enforcement from Georgia Department of Revenue Alcohol & Tobacco Law 
Enforcement Division: 
 
First Offense:                                                                     Citation Date 

 
1. Teresa McElveen/Kenneth Jones                                  (4-15-2014) 

BiLo / 325 Northside Drive East #1 
 

2. Kunal Jagdish Patel                                                        (8-20-2014) 
Dixie Food Mart / 197 Northside Drive East 
 

3. Gregory Jones Woolard                                                 (8-20-2014) 
Clydes Market #76 / 17874 Highway 67 
 



 
 

4. Alvin Friesen/Daniel Decrescenzo                                (8-20-2014) 
Food World #793 / Fair Road 
 

5. Kishorchandra Dodia                                                    (11-20-2013) 
Time Saver / 301 North Main Street  

 
Enforcement from the Statesboro Police Department: 
 
 First Offense:                                                                    Citation Date 
 

1. Mabrook Hallat                                                            (10-11-2014) 
Fast and Easy / 118 Lanier Drive  
 

2. Justin Wayne Driskell                                                  (10-11-2014) 
Two Guys Beverage and Tobacco / 8 B College Plaza 
 

3. Pallavi Patel                                                                  (10-11-2014) 
Sparkers Convenient Store / 799 Highway 80 West 
 

4. Gregory Jones Woolard                                                (10-11-2014) 
Clydes Market #48 / 12399 Highway 301 South 
 

5. Gregory Jones  Woolard                                               (10-11-2014) 
Clydes Market #37 / 1609 Fair Road 
 

6. James Stafford                                                               (10-11-2014) 
Rum Runners / 7 University Plaza 
 

7. Pallavi Patel                                                                   (10-11-2014) 
K and J Foodmart / 123 West Main Street 

   
Second Offense: 
 
1. Alvin Friesen/Daniel Decrescenzo                                (10-11-2014) 

Food World #793 / Fair Road 
 

2. Kishorchandra Dodia                                                      (10-11-2014) 
Time Saver / 301 North Main Street 

 
8. Other Business from City Council 

 
9. City Managers Comments 

 
10. Public Comments (General) 

A) Bill Thomas 
 

11. Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 



 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
Council Minutes 
October 21, 2014 

 
A regular meeting of the Statesboro City Council was held on October 21, 2014 at 5:15 p.m. in 
the Council Chambers at City Hall. Present were Mayor Jan J. Moore, Council Members: Will 
Britt, Phil Boyum, John Riggs, Gary Lewis and Travis Chance.  Also present were Interim City 
Manager Robert Cheshire, City Clerk Sue Starling, City Attorney Alvin Leaphart, Assistant City 
Engineer Jason Boyles and Director of Community Development Mandi Cody.    
The meeting was called to order by Mayor Jan Moore 
The Invocation was given by Director of the DSDA Allen Muldrew and Pledge of Allegiance 
was led by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt 
 
Recognitions/Public Presentations: None 
 
Public Comments (Agenda Item): None 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve the Consent Agenda 

A) Approval of Minutes 
a) 10-07-2014 Council Minutes 

 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to approve the 
consent agenda in its entirety. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in 
favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 

Public Hearing and Motion to approve APPLICATION # AN 12-05-01 to approve 
annexation and zoning: 

 
A) W & L Developers, LLC requests annexation by the 100% method and zoning of 

13.05 acres of property located at 665 S&S Railroad Bed Road from R25 (Single 
Family Residential – Bulloch County) to R10 (Single Family Residential) (Tax 
Parcel Number 107 000007 000). 
a) Consideration of a motion to approve second reading of Annexation 

Ordinance 2014-03 for annexation by the 100% method filed by W&L 
Developers, LLC to annex 13.05 acres of property located on S&S Railroad 
Bed Road into the City of Statesboro. (Tax Map  107 00000 7000) 

 
B) W & L Developers, LLC requests annexation by the 100% method and zoning of 

1 acre of property located at 665 S&S Railroad Bed Road from R25 (Single 
Family Residential – Bulloch County) to R10 (Single Family Residential) (Tax 
Parcel Number 107 00006A 000). 



 
 

a) Consideration of a motion to approve second reading of Annexation 
Ordinance 2014-04 for annexation by the 100% method filed by W&L 
Developers, LLC to annex 1 acre of property located on S&S Railroad Bed 
Road into the City of Statesboro. (Tax Map 107 00006A 000) 

 

After much discussion on the wetlands in this area, drainage issues, greenways, and buffers, 
Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to table   
APPLICATION # AN 12-05-01 and the attached Ordinances until the next regular scheduled 
Council meeting. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs, Lewis and Chance voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 5-0 vote. 
 
Councilman Travis Chance left the meeting at 5:45 pm and did not return. 
 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Motion to Approve APPLICATION #  RZ 14-08-
03:  Hendley Properties requests a zoning map amendment to rezone .916 acre of property 
 for Lots 4, 5, 6 & B located on Walnut Street from O (Office) district to R4 (High Density 
Residential) district  to allow for the development of the proposed duplex  concept plan 
(Tax Parcel Number S19 000035 002). 
 
Councilman Lewis made a motion seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to approve, with 
conditions from staff, APPLICATION #  RZ 14-08-03:  Hendley Properties requests a zoning 
map amendment to rezone .916 acre of property  for Lots 4, 5, 6 & B located on Walnut 
Street from O (Office) district to R4 (High Density Residential) district  to allow for the 
development of the proposed duplex  concept plan (Tax Parcel Number S19 000035 002). 
Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by 
a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve architectural design concept by Studio 3 Design 
Group to allow for the development and bid of construction documents for the City owned 
buildings at 56 and 58 East Main Street and the adjoining alley to be utilized as the 
Georgia Southern University / City of Statesboro Fabrication Laboratory and Business 
Innovation Center.  
 
A power point was presented by the Studio 3 Design Group to show the new architectural design 
for the Fab Lab. Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to 
approve the architectural design as presented for the Fab Lab. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs 
and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve/deny a 90 day temporary alcohol license to Vincent 
Kochetta, CFO of A.M. Braswell, Jr. Food Company in accordance with Chapter 6 
(Alcohol) Sec.6-34 (a) of the City of Statesboro Code of Ordinance 
 
Councilman Lewis made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to approve a 90 day 
temporary alcohol license to Vincent Kochetta, CFO of A.M. Braswell, Jr. Food Company in 
accordance with Chapter 6 (Alcohol) Sec.6-34 (a) of the City of Statesboro Code of Ordinance. 



 
 

Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by 
a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to approve/deny a 90 day temporary alcohol license to Christian 
Bennett for SLRG Holdings Inc. doing business as Club 125 in accordance with Chapter 6 
(Alcohol) Sec.6-34 (a) of the City of Statesboro Code of Ordinance 
 
Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Councilman Lewis to approve a 90 day 
temporary alcohol license to Christian Bennett for SLRG Holdings Inc. doing business as Club 
125 in accordance with Chapter 6 (Alcohol) Sec.6-34 (a) of the City of Statesboro Code of 
Ordinance. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion 
carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to adopt Resolution 2014-32: A Resolution accepting the right of 
way of Arch Way as a public street to be owned and maintained by the City of Statesboro.  
 
Councilman Lewis made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to approve Resolution 2014-
32: A Resolution accepting the right of way of Arch Way as a public street to be owned and 
maintained by the City of Statesboro. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs and Lewis voted in favor 
of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to award bid for 2013 CDBG construction contract to 
Southeastern Civil, Inc. in the amount of $484,835.50 to be paid from the $500,000.00 2013 
Community Development Block Grant award to the City of Statesboro from the Georgia 
Department of Community Affairs. 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to award bid for 2013 
CDBG construction contract to Southeastern Civil, Inc. in the amount of $484,835.50 to be paid 
from the $500,000.00 2013 Community Development Block Grant award to the City of 
Statesboro from the Georgia Department of Community Affairs. Councilman Britt, Boyum, 
Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 
 
Other Business from City Council 

A) Update on the internal investigation regarding the Open Meetings Act. 
B) Discussion of the employment terms for the Interim City Manager 

 
Councilman Riggs congratulated Director of Human Resource Jeff Grant for the Fit by ’15 
program that aired on the NBC news. 

Councilman Boyum announced the Bulloch County Alcohol and Drug Council would be holding 
a town hall meeting at the Conservatory. 

Councilman Lewis announced this would be his last term in office. 

Mayor Moore stated that all the transcripts have come in regarding the proposed violations for 
Open Meetings. She also stated Mr. Peterson should have the report ready no later than 
December 1st, 2014. 



 
 

Mayor Moore also asked Council to consider extending the Interim City Manager Robert 
Cheshire’s contract until January. Mayor Moore asked that the contract be voted on at the next 
Council meeting.  

City Managers Comments 
 
City Clerk Sue Starling updated Council on the alcohol application for package sales for the new 
Wal Mart Store. 

Interim City Manager Robert Cheshire stated he was finished with his report on the alcohol 
citation questions and will be ready to bring it to Council.       
 
Public Comments (General) 
 
Bill Thomas addressed Council with his concerns on alcohol citations and audits for the 50/50 
reports associated with the ratio of food sales and alcohol sales. 

Consideration of a Motion to enter into Executive Session to discuss “Real Estate”  in 
accordance with O.C.G.A.§50-14-3 (2012) 
 
At 6:45 pm, Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to enter into 
Executive Session. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The 
motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 

At 6:49 pm, Councilman Riggs made a motion, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt to come 
out of Executive Session. Councilman Britt, Boyum, Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the 
motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 

Mayor Moore called the regular meeting back to order with no action being taken. 
 
Consideration of a Motion to Adjourn 
 
Councilman Boyum made a motion, seconded by Councilman Riggs to adjourn. Councilman 
Britt, Boyum, Riggs and Lewis voted in favor of the motion. The motion carried by a 4-0 vote. 

The meeting was adjourned at 6:50 pm 
 
 
 



 
 

CITY OF STATESBORO 
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MINUTES 

October 21, 2014 

A work session of the Statesboro City Council was held on October 21, 2014 at 4:00 pm in the 
Council Chambers at City Hall. Present were Mayor Jan Moore; Council Members: Will Britt, 
Phil Boyum, John Riggs, Gary Lewis and Travis Chance. Also present was City Clerk Sue 
Starling, City Attorney Alvin Leaphart.  
 
Also present were members of staff and the news media. 

The meeting was called to order by Mayor Jan Moore. The following topics were discussed. 
 

1. Discussion of  the End of Fiscal Year 2014 Overview 
2. Discussion of Goals: 

A. Review of FY2015 City wide goals 
B. Preparing to set FY2016 City Wide goals  

 

Interim City Manager Robert Cheshire outlined the preliminary schedule for upcoming work 
sessions for the budget.  

Finance Director Cindy West gave a power point presentation for the FY2014 budget as well as 
City wide goals and preparing for the 2016 budget.  

There was some discussion regarding the city website which was noted as not customer friendly 
and Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt asked about paperless billing. Mayor Moore asked how the 
current procedures and processes were going and if there were any changes in Planning and 
Development since the new Interim City Manager came onboard. Director of Planning and 
Development Mandi Cody stated that her phone calls have decreased after the changes in City 
Managers and she doesn’t know what is going on in the City as far as development. She stated 
people don’t seem to have the trust factor as they did before the change of management. 

Mayor Pro Tem Will Britt states he would like to see some of our court cases brought back to 
City Court. 

There was also a discussion on the decrease of our franchise fees. Some suggested it was due to 
less land line phones, more cell phones and use of direct TV etc. 

The meeting was adjourned at 5:05 p.m. 

 
  
 
 
 

 
 





 

Purchasing 

 

Memo 
 
 
TO:  Robert Cheshire, City Manager 
  
FROM: Darren Prather, Purchasing Director 
 
DATE: 10-28-14 
 
Re:  Recommendation—Natural Gas Expansion Bid/I-16 Ind. Park 
 
The City of Statesboro solicited sealed bids for an expansion of the natural gas system to 
serve the I-16 industrial park. If approved, this project would cover approximately four 
(4) miles to include all required additional materials and labor for the project. All 
requirements of the state mandated public works laws were fully complied with to 
include, but not limited to: advertising, insurance and bonding. A mandatory pre-bid was 
held to field questions and to hand out the plans generated by Sapp Engineering (project 
engineer/specialty in natural gas systems). The following sealed bids were submitted: 
 

1. D. Lance Souther  $1,169,716.00 
2. Pride Utility   $1,432,495.00 
3. R.A.W. Construction  $1,108,950.00 

 
Having met all of the sealed bid requirements of the City of Statesboro and the project 
engineer (Sapp Engineering), we recommend the bid award be made to R.A.W 
Construction in the amount of $1,108,950.00. If approved, this project will be funded 
from a combination of 2013 SPLOST and revenue funds. 



RESOLUTION 2014-33 A RESOLUTION TO ADOPT THE FIRST AMENDMENT 
TO THE FISCAL YEAR 2015 BUDGET FOR EACH FUND OF THE CITY OF 

STATESBORO, GEORGIA, APPROPRIATING THE AMOUNTS SHOWN IN EACH 
BUDGET AS EXPENDITURES/EXPENSES, ADOPTING THE SEVERAL ITEMS OF 

REVENUE ANTICIPATIONS, AND PROHIBITING EXPENDITURES OR 
EXPENSES FROM EXCEEDING THE ACTUAL FUNDING APPROPRIATED 

 
 

 THAT WHEREAS, sound governmental operations require a Budget in order to 
plan the financing of services for the residents of the City of Statesboro; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Title 36, Chapter 81, Article 1 of the Official Code of Georgia 
Annotated (OCGA) requires a balanced Budget for the City's fiscal year, which runs from 
July 1st to June 30th of each year; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council have reviewed a proposed First 
Amendment to the Budget from the City Manager that includes some revenues/financing 
sources and expenditures/expenses not anticipated in the original Budget, and carries 
forward funding and appropriations for some projects and equipment budgeted in the 
previous fiscal year, but not purchased by fiscal year-end; and 
 
 WHEREAS, each of these funds is a balanced budget, so that anticipated revenues 
and other financial resources for each fund equal the proposed expenditures or expenses 
and any transfers; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Mayor and City Council wish to adopt this First Budget 
Amendment for Fiscal Year 2015; 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and City Council of the 
City of Statesboro, Georgia as follows: 
 
 Section 1.  That the proposed changes to the budget, attached hereto as 
Attachment #1 and incorporated herein as a part of this Resolution, are hereby adopted as 
the First Budget Amendment for the City's Fiscal Year 2015 Budget. 
 
 Section 2.  That the several items of revenues, other financial resources, and 
sources of cash shown in the budget amendment for each fund in the amounts shown 
anticipated are hereby adopted; and that the several amounts shown in the budget 
amendment for each fund as proposed expenditures or expenses, and uses of cash are 
hereby appropriated to the departments and agencies named in each fund, as amendments 
to the existing Budget previously adopted. 
 
 Section 3.  That the "legal level of control" as defined in OCGA 36-81-2 is set at 
the departmental level, meaning that the City Manager in his capacity as Budget Officer 
is authorized to move appropriations from one line item to another within a department, 
but under no circumstances may expenditures or expenses exceed the amount 



appropriated for a department without a further budget amendment approved by the 
Mayor and City Council. 
 
 Section 4.  That all appropriations shall lapse at the end of the fiscal year. 
 
 Section 5.  That this Resolution shall be and remain in full force and effect from 
and after its date of adoption. 
 
 Adopted this 4th day of November, 2014. 
 
 
 
CITY OF STATESBORO, GEORGIA 
 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
By:  Jan J. Moore, Mayor 
 
 
 
__________________________________________ 
Attest: Sue Starling, City Clerk 
 
 



ATTACHMENT #1 
 

FY 2015 FIRST BUDGET AMENDMENT 
 

100 General Fund:  
• Increase Revenues for Inspection Fees by $17,422. 
• City Manager’s Office 

o Decrease Expenditures for Regular Employees by $25,000. 
• Financial Administration 

o Increase Expenditures for Bank Card Charges by $15,000. 
• Legal 

o Increase Expenditures for Legal Fees by $25,000. 
• Engineering 

o Increase Expenditures for Contract Labor by $2,422. 
Net effect on Fund is: None 
 

210 Confiscated Assets Fund: 
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None 
   

221 CDBG Fund: 
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
 

224 US Department of Justice Grant 
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
 

250 Multiple Grants Fund: 
• Increase Revenues for JAG Grant #2014-DJ-BX-1187 by $13,630. 
• Increase Expenditures for JAG Grant #2014-DJ-BX-1187 by $13,630. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
 

270 Statesboro Fire Service Fund: 
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
 

275 Hotel/Motel Fund: 
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
 

286 Technology Fee Fund: 
 

• No Changes. 
Net effect on Fund is:   None. 
 



 
 

322 2007 SPLOST Fund: 
• Increase Revenues for Interest Income by $5,000. 
• Increase Expenditures for Bank Charges by $840. 
• Streets 

o Increase Expenditures for ENG-28 Street Striping/Signage by $25,000. 
Carry forward project from FY2014. 

o Increase Expenditures for ENG-34 Gentilly Street Sidewalk by $209,230. 
Carry forward project from FY2014. 

o Increase Expenditures for ENG-40 Street Resurfacing by $464,278. Carry 
forward project from FY2014. 

o Increase Expenditures for ENG-44 Intersection of West Main at College 
Street by $150,000. Carry forward project from FY2014. 

o Increase Expenditures for ENG-68 Lester Road Sidewalk by $216,500. 
Carry forward project from FY2014. 

• Storm Drainage 
o Increase Expenditures for ENG-2 Stormwater Phase 2 by $150,688. Carry 

forward project from FY2014.  
Net effect on Fund is:  Decreases in Fund Balance by $1,211,536. 
 

323 2013 SPLOST Fund: 
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
 

                                  341 2013 CDBG Fund: 
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
 

350 Capital Improvements Program Fund: 
• Increase Revenues for GMA Lease Pool by $33,000. 
• Streets 

o Increase Expenditures for ENG-STS-62 Replace Bushhogs by $1,800. 
Carry forward project from FY2014. 

o Increase Expenditures for ENG-STS-64 Replace Mowers by $2,700.  
Carry forward project from FY2014. 

o Increase Expenditures for ENG-STS Replace Existing Truck by $33,000.  
Carry forward project from FY2014’ 

• Engineering 
o Increase Expenditures for ENG-95 Repaint City Hall by $35,000.  Carry 

forward project form FY2014. 
Net effect on Fund is:  Decrease in Fund Balance by $39,500. 
 

505 Water and Sewer Fund:  
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is:  None. 



 
 

506 Reclaimed Water System Fund 
• No Changes. 
• Net effect on Fund is:  None  

 
515 Natural Gas Fund: 

• No Changes. 
Net effect on Fund is:  None. 
  

541 Solid Waste Collection Fund:   
 

Commercial Division 
• Increase Expenses on the Cash Flow Statement for SWC-14 Activity Recorder by 

$18,000. 
Residential Division 

• Increase Expenses on the Cash Flow Statement for SWC-10 Pickup by $22,000. 
• Increase Expenses for Transfer to Fleet Management Fund by $55,000 for 

modification to facility to work on CNG vehicles. 
.Yardwaste Division 

• No Changes. 
Net effect on Fund is:  Decrease in Fund Balance by $95,000. 
 

542 Solid Waste Disposal Fund: 
• Increase Expenses on the Cash Flow Statement for SWD-16 Pickup by $20,000. 

Net effect on Fund is: Decrease in Fund Balance by $20,000. 
 
 

601 Health Insurance Fund: 
• No Changes. 

Net effect on Fund is: None. 
 

602 Fleet Management Fund:  
• Increase Revenues for Transfer from Solid Waste Collection Fund by $55,000. 
• Increase Expenses on the Cash Flow Statement for FMD-26 Modifications to 

Facility $55,000. 
Net effect on Fund is:  None. 

 
603 Workers Compensation Fund:  

• No Changes. 
Net effect on Fund is:  None. 

 
604 Wellness Fund: 

• No Changes. 
Net effect on Fund is:  None. 

 






























	11-04-2014 Council Agenda
	10-21-2014 Council minutes
	10-21-2014 council work session minutes
	10-2014 Resolution 2014-34
	11-04-2014 Memo--I-16 Nat Gas Exp (2)
	11-04-2014-33 Resolution on Budget Amendment 1 (2)
	11-04-2014 ALCOHOL VIOLATIONS

